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2021 Accounting and Auditing Update

Topics Part 1a:

• Introduction

• Implementation Issues – Revenue

• Implementation Issues – Leases

• Special Covid Related Issues

• Sustainability Standards

Topics Part 1b:

• FASB Projects

• FASB Exposure Drafts

• Recently issued ASUs

• New Goodwill Standards

• New Not-for-Profit Standards

• Update on Financial Instruments

• Accounting for Digital Assets
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ASU 2014-09, REVENUE FROM 
CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS
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Implementation Issues – Revenue

• The core principle of ASU 2014-09 is:

"An entity recognizes revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to 
customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled
in exchange for those goods or services." 

• ASC 606, Revenue from contracts with customers records revenue based on a five-step 
approach

1. Determine if a contract exists

2. Determine the performance obligations

3. Determine the transaction price

4. Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations

5. Recognize revenue

5

Implementation Issues – Revenue

• Step 1 - Incorporates the need to determine the collectability of the contract

– If the contract is not collectible, then there is no contract.

– Covid-19 may cause a previously collectible contract to be uncollectible.  This would 
result in need to derecognize revenue.

– Need to determine if future payments are variable payments or payments where 
collectability is uncertain

– Contracts negotiated simultaneously are considered to be one contract

• Step 2 – Performance obligations

– Need to establish a policy

– Need to disclose

• Step 3 - Transaction price may need to be reevaluated for probability of collection

• Step 5 – When is revenue recognized over time?
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Implementation Issues – Revenue

Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

• A contract is an agreement between two or more parties that creates enforceable rights and 
obligations. An entity should apply the requirements to each contract that meets the following 
criteria:

‒ There is approval and commitment of the parties 

‒ There is identification of the rights of the parties 

‒ There is identification of the payment terms 

‒ The contract has commercial substance

‒ It is probable that the entity will collect the consideration to which it will be entitled in 
exchange for the goods or services that will be transferred to the customer (collectability) 
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Implementation Issues – Revenue

Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract

• A performance obligation is a promise in a contract with a customer to transfer a good or 
service to the customer. 

‒ If an entity promises in a contract to transfer more than one good or service to the 
customer, the entity should account for each promised good or service as a performance 
obligation only if:

• It is distinct or 

• There is a series of distinct goods or services that are  

substantially the same and have the same pattern of transfer. 
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Implementation Issues – Revenue
Step 3: Determine the transaction price

• The transaction price is the amount of consideration (for example, payment) to which an 
entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring promised goods or services to a 
customer, excluding amounts collected on behalf of third parties. 

‒ To determine the transaction price, an entity should consider the effects of: 

• Variable consideration

• Constraining estimates of variable consideration

• The existence of a significant financing component

• Noncash consideration

• Consideration payable to customer  
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Implementation Issues – Revenue

Step 3: Determine the transaction price

• Variable consideration examples:

‒ Discounts 

‒ Rebates and refunds

‒ Credits

‒ Incentives 

‒ Performance bonuses 

‒ Penalties 

‒ Contingencies

‒ Price concessions

‒ Other similar items. 
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Implementation Issues – Revenue

Step 5: Recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation

An entity transfers control of a good or service over time and, therefore, should recognize 
revenue over time if one of the following 3 criteria is met: 

• CRITERION 1: The customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided 
by the entity’s performance as the entity performs. 

• CRITERION 2: The entity’s performance creates or enhances an asset (for example, work in 
process) that the customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced.

• CRITERION 3: The entity’s performance:

‒ Does not create an asset with an alternative use to the entity, and 

‒ The entity has an enforceable right to payment  for  performance  completed to date.  
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Implementation Issues – Revenue

Cases in Revenue:

1. Installment sale of a building used for a restaurant

2. Contract to produce a documentary

3. Contract to write computer code for a start up company

4. Environmental contract to clean polluted body of water, process the trash, clean water, 
and institute remediation processes

5. Software to evaluate past and future purchases for potential savings where the contract 
has both up-front and future payments
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Implementation Issues – Revenue

Case 1 (from the standard):

• 606-10-55-95 An entity, a real estate developer, enters into a contract with a customer for the 
sale of a building for $1 million. The customer intends to open a restaurant in the building. 
The building is located in an area where new restaurants face high levels of competition, and 
the customer has little experience in the restaurant industry. 

• 606-10-55-96 The customer pays a nonrefundable deposit of $50,000 at inception of the 
contract and enters into a long-term financing agreement with the entity for the remaining 95 
percent of the promised consideration. The financing arrangement is provided on a 
nonrecourse basis, which means that if the customer defaults, the entity can repossess the 
building but cannot seek further compensation from the customer, even if the collateral does 
not cover the full value of the amount owed. The entity’s cost of the building is $600,000. The 
customer obtains control of the building at contract inception. 
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Implementation Issues – Revenue

Case 1 (from the standard):

• 606-10-55-97 In assessing whether the contract meets the criteria in paragraph 606-10-25-1, 
the entity concludes that the criterion in paragraph 606-10-25-1(e) is not met because it is 
not probable that the entity will collect the consideration to which it is entitled in exchange for 
the transfer of the building. In reaching this conclusion, the entity observes that the 
customer’s ability and intention to pay may be in doubt because of the following factors: 

a. The customer intends to repay the loan (which has a significant balance) primarily from 
income derived from its restaurant business (which is a business facing significant risks 
because of high competition in the industry and the customer’s limited experience). 

b. The customer lacks other income or assets that could be used to repay the loan. 

c. The customer’s liability under the loan is limited because the loan is nonrecourse. 

14



Implementation Issues – Revenue

Case 1 (from the standard):

• 606-10-55-98 Because the criteria in paragraph 606-10-25-1 are not met, the entity applies paragraphs 
606-10-25-7 through 25-8 to determine the accounting for the nonrefundable deposit of $50,000. The 
entity observes that none of the events described in paragraph 606-10-25-7 have occurred—that is, the 
entity has not received substantially all of the consideration and it has not terminated the contract. 
Consequently, in accordance with paragraph 606-10-25-8, the entity accounts for the nonrefundable 
$50,000 payment as a deposit liability. The entity continues to account for the initial deposit, as well as 
any future payments of principal and interest, as a deposit liability and does not derecognize the real 
estate asset. Also, the entity does not recognize a receivable until such time that the entity concludes 
that the criteria in paragraph 606-10-25-1 are met (that is, the entity is able to conclude that it is 
probable that the entity will collect the consideration) or one of the events in paragraph 606-10-25-7 
has occurred. The entity continues to assess the contract in accordance with paragraph 606-10-25-6 to 
determine whether the criteria in paragraph 606-10-25-1 are subsequently met or whether the events in 
paragraph 606-10-25-7 have occurred. 
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Implementation Issues – Revenue

Case 2:

Facts:

• A film company enters into a contract with a network TV station to produce a documentary on 
the history of rock and roll.

• The documentary will take three years to produce and involves gathering film clips, 
interviewing entertainers and editing.

• The project has progress billings and collectability is certain.

Question:  When is revenue recognized?
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Implementation Issues – Revenue

Case 2:

Analysis:  Revenue is recognized over time if any one of the following conditions are met

• CRITERION 1: The customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the entity’s performance as the entity performs. 

• CRITERION 2: The entity’s performance creates or enhances an asset (for 
example, work in process) that the customer controls as the asset is created or 
enhanced.

• CRITERION 3: The entity’s performance:

‒ Does not create an asset with an alternative use to the entity, and 

‒ The entity has an enforceable right to payment  for  performance  completed 
to date.  
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Implementation Issues – Revenue

Case 2:

Conclusion:  Revenue will be recognized over time
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Implementation Issues – Revenue

Case 3:

Facts:

• A software company is hired by a start up company to code a key piece of software 
necessary for the customer to operate.

• The contract is for $3M payable half when the software is installed and half in payments 
starting in year three after the installation.

• The software is installed and the $1.5M is paid

• The software company has minimal continuing obligation on the software.

Question:  When is revenue recognized?
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Implementation Issues – Revenue

Case 3:

Analysis: Regarding the second payment of $1.5M, is it

a. Variable consideration, or

b. A payment where collectability is uncertain?

Conclusion: Clarity is needed.

a. What does the contract say?

b. How clear are the payment terms?
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Implementation Issues – Revenue

Case 4:

Facts:

• ABC Company is  hired to clean up a polluted lake.  The work will be done in three phases 
that will take 4 years.

• Phase 1 is to remove all the debris from the lake.  The contract price for this phase is $.5M.  
It is anticipated that this phase will take 1.5 years

• Phase 2 is to purify the water and install a filtration system.  The contract price for this phase 
is $.75M. It is anticipated that this phase will take 1 year.

• Phase 3 is to clean up the landscape surrounding the lake that would allow for the area to be 
used as a county park.  The contract price is $1.25M and is anticipated that this phase will 
take 1.5 years.

Question:  When is revenue recognized?
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Implementation Issues – Revenue

Case 4:

Analysis: Following the 5-step process:

a. Step 1: Contracts negotiated together are treated as one contract

b. Step 2:  There are three Performance Obligations

a. Cleaning the debris

b. Purifying the water

c. Landscaping the surrounding area

c. Step 3:  Total consideration is $3.

d. Step 4: The contract price will be allocated to the three obligations. This may 
not follow the allocations in the contract

e. Step 5: The revenue is recognized as each performance obligation is 
satisfied
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Implementation Issues – Revenue

Case 4:

Conclusion: 

The company will probably utilize a percentage of completion or a milestone 
method allocating the costs and revenue to each performance obligation.
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Implementation Issues – Revenue

Case 5:

Facts:

• XYZ Company analyzes the bank charges a client is charged for credit card fees.  This is 
done using a cloud-based software platform.

• A customer contracts the company to perform monitoring of credit card fees for a two-year 
term.  The fee for this service is a non-refundable up-front fee of $1,000 and a license fee of 
$2,000 for the first year and $2,100 for the second year.

• The customer also hires XYZ Company to analyze the past three years’ charges.  The fee for 
this service is $2,000. 

Question:  When is revenue recognized?
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Implementation Issues – Revenue

Case 5:

Analysis: Following the 5-step process:

a. Step 1: Contracts negotiated together are treated as one contract

b. Step 2: There are two performance obligations

1. Analyzing past service charges

2. Monitoring the future charges.

c. Step 3:  Total consideration is $7,100

d. Step 4: The contract price will be allocated to the two obligations. This may 
not follow the allocations in the contract

e. Step 5: The revenue is recognized as each performance obligation is 
satisfied
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Implementation Issues – Revenue

Case 5:

Conclusion: 

• The company will recognize the past analysis utilizing a percentage of completion 
or a milestone method allocating the costs and revenue to each performance 
obligation.

• The company will recognize the revenue for ongoing servicing of the account using 
a straight-line method
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ASU 2016-02: LEASES
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Implementation Issues – Leases

In General

• ASC 842, Leases replaces ASC 840, Leases

• The term of “capital lease” is replaced with “financing lease”

• Both operating and financing leases will capitalize assets

• Income statement treatment is different between the two methods.

• The criteria for financing leases changes slightly

• There is a practical expedient for operating leases with a term of 12 months or less
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Implementation Issues – Leases

Lease Definition:

A contract or part of a contract that conveys the right to control the use of identified 
property, plant, or equipment (an identified asset) for a period of time in exchange for 
consideration. 
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Implementation Issues – Leases

30



Implementation Issues – Leases

Common leases areas of concern

• Are there embedded leases?  Do you have the right to control someone else’s property?

• Materiality – not defined in standard

• Portfolio approach

• Lease term

• Lease payments

• Non-lease components

• Related party leases

• Location on Balance Sheet

• Not-for-profits getting free rent is scoped out (no consideration)
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Implementation Issues – Leases

Embedded Leases:

• Not always apparent

• All contracts must be evaluated for components that allow control of another entity’s property

– Easements

– Purchases that require use of seller’s property

– Property required to be used by subcontractors

– Components of other property
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Implementation Issues – Leases

Portfolio Approach:

• Entities that have a large number of leases of similar assets (e.g., leases of a fleet of similar 
railcars) may face practical challenges in applying the leases model on a lease-by-lease 
basis.

• An entity can use a portfolio approach when “the entity reasonably expects that the 
application of the leases model to the portfolio would not differ materially from the application 
of the leases model to the individual leases in that portfolio.” 

• ASC 842 does not define “reasonably expects” and “materially.” 
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Implementation Issues – Leases

Lease Term:

• Period or units over which an asset is expected to be economically usable including
– Period covered by an option to extend if it is reasonably certain to be exercised
– Period covered by an option to terminate if it is reasonably certain not to exercise an 

option
– Periods covered by an option to extend when the option is controlled by the lessor.

• Lease term should be reassessed, if 
– Due to a change in events or circumstances, and the lessee is now reasonably certain to 

exercise or not exercise an option to extend/terminate the lease or to purchase the 
underlying asset.

– An event occurs that is written into the contract that obliges the lessee to exercise/not 
exercise an option to extend/terminate the lease. 
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Implementation Issues – Leases

Lease Payments Include:

• Lease Fixed payments

• Variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate

• Exercise price of an option

• Payments for penalties for terminating the lease

• Fees paid by the lessee to the owners of a special-purpose entity for structuring the 
transaction

• Amounts probable of being owed by the lessee under a residual value guarantee

• In-substance fixed lease payments structured as variable payments
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Implementation Issues – Leases

Non-Lease Components:

• Executory costs

• Guarantees and warrantees

• Lessor provided services such as maintenance or utilities

• ASC 842 does not provide detailed guidance on how to evaluate whether the predominant 
component is the lease or non-lease component. 

• ASC 842 provides a practical expedient that permits lessees to make an accounting policy 
election (by class of underlying asset) to account for each separate lease component of a 
contract and its associated non-lease components as a single lease component.

36



Implementation Issues – Leases

Related Party Leases

842-10-55-12

Leases between related parties should be classified in accordance with the lease 
classification criteria applicable to all other leases on the basis of the legally enforceable 
terms and conditions of the lease. In the separate financial statements of the related 
parties, the classification and accounting for the leases should be the same as for leases 
between unrelated parties

Related Party Lease Challenges:

• Determine legal enforceability

• Determining lease term

• Electing to exclude consolidation under ASU 2014-07 and ASU 2018-17
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Implementation Issues – Leases

Location on Balance Sheet (BC 265):

The presentation guidance in the 2013 Exposure Draft would have required a lessee to 
present right-of-use assets not presented separately in the statement of financial position 
within the same line item as if the corresponding underlying assets were owned. The 
Board did not include this requirement in Topic 842. The Board decided that it was 
unnecessary to prescribe where right-of-use assets must be presented (if not presented 
separately) because the notes would provide that information. In addition, some Board 
members said that presenting operating lease assets together with owned property, 
plant, and equipment may be inappropriate given the Board’s conclusion that operating 
leases convey rights and carry risks substantially different from those of owned property, 
plant, and equipment. 
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Implementation Issues – Leases

Location on Balance Sheet (ASC 842-20-45-1)

A Lessee shall either present in the statement of financial position or 
disclose in the notes all of the following: 

a. Finance lease right-of-use assets and operating lease right-of-use assets 
separately from each other and from other assets 

b. Finance lease liabilities and operating lease liabilities separately from 
each other and from other liabilities. Right-of-use assets and lease 
liabilities shall be subject to the same considerations as other 
nonfinancial assets and financial liabilities in classifying them as current 
and noncurrent in classified statements of financial position. 
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Implementation Issues – Leases

Financial Performance Metrics:

• Lessee’s financial performance metrics will change, for example: 

– EBITDA will increase

– Current ratio will decrease 

– Debt ratio will increase 

– Return on assets will decrease

• Need to review loan covenants
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SPECIAL COVID RELATED ISSUES
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Special COVID Related Issues

• MD&A

• Accounting Policies

• Risks and Uncertainties

• Revenue

• Lease Concessions

• Property, Plant & Equipment

• Valuation of Inventory

• Receivable Impairments

• Exit or Disposal Cost Obligations

• Long-Term Debt

• Deferred Taxes

• Goodwill Impairments 

• Going Concern

• Subsequent Events
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Issues presented by Covid-19 – Troubled-Debt Refinancing

• Troubled-debt restructuring is when a creditor “for economic or legal 
reasons related to the debtor’s financial difficulties, grants a concession to 
the debtor that it would not otherwise consider”

• Troubled-debt restructuring involves
– Settlement of debt at less than it’s carrying value or

– Continuation of debt with a modification of terms

• Troubled-debt restructuring does not apply to
– Modifications of a debt obligation that reflect general economic conditions leading to a 

reduced interest rate

– The refunding of an old debt with new debt having an effective interest rate approximately 
equal to that of similar debt issued by nontroubled debtors
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Issues presented by Covid-19 – Troubled-Debt Refinancing

• Modification of Terms can be

– Reduction of stated interest rate.

– Extension of the maturity date of the face amount of the debt.

– Reduction of the face amount of the debt.

– Reduction or deferral of any accrued interests.

• In general

– The creditor will recognize a loss

– The debtor will

• Compute the effective-interest rate based on the new terms of the loan

• Compute a gain if the interest rate falls below zero.
• R
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Issues presented by Covid-19 – Troubled-Debt Refinancing

Facts:

• Original Loan amount was $1,000,000 (6% interest)

• Loan is restructured with the following terms:

– $60,000 interest for two years

– $800,000 due in two years

• Market rate for a similar loan on date of refinance is 5%

Creditor accounting:

• PV of new loan at 5% is $837,188

• Loss on TDR is $162,812 (1,000,000 – 837,188)
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Issues presented by Covid-19 – Troubled-Debt Refinancing

Debtor Accounting:

• Reduce loan payable to $920,000

• Record gain of $80,000

Disclosure Example 1 (Debtor):
NOTE 11:  DEBT (in part):

During the period ended December 31, 2020, the Company was able to restructure its loan 
with Main Street Bank. Under the terms of the restructuring, Main Street has agreed to 
accept payments in the amount of $60,000 per year with a balloon payment of $800,000 in 
two years. As a result, the Company has recorded a restructuring gain of $80,000.

• R
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Issues presented by Covid-19 – Troubled-Debt Refinancing

Example 2 (new facts):

• Assume the loan is reduced to $900,000 instead of $800,000

• Computed effective interest rate of cash flow is now 1.026%
• R

Disclosure Example 2 (Debtor):
NOTE 11:  DEBT (in part):

During the period ended December 31, 2020, the Company was able to restructure its loan 
with Main Street Bank. Under the terms of the restructuring, Main Street has agreed to 
accept payments in the amount of $60,000 per year with a balloon payment of $900,000 in 
two years. The interest rates have been adjusted based on the new terms of the loan. No 
gain was recorded on the restructuring.
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Issues presented by Covid-19 – Going Concern

• ASC 205, Presentation of Financial Statements, conveys on management to evaluate and 
disclose whether there is substantial doubt about a company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern.  The Topic defines substantial doubt as:

Substantial doubt about an entity’s ability to continue as a going concern exists when 
conditions and events, considered in the aggregate, indicate that it is probable that the 
entity will be unable to meet its obligations as they become due within one year after the 
date that the financial statements are issued (or within one year after the date that the 
financial statements are available to be issued when applicable).
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Issues presented by Covid-19 – Going Concern

Going Concern Steps:

• STEP 1: Determine whether conditions and events raise substantial doubt

• STEP 2: Consider management’s plans if substantial doubt is raised

• Disclose:

– Substantial doubt is raised and is not alleviated by management’s plans

– Substantial doubt was raised but was alleviated by management’s plans

– Ongoing disclosure requirements
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Issues presented by Covid-19 – Going Concern

Going Concern Checklist (1 of 2)

• Have you documented all conditions and events, both positive and negative, that are 
relevant to the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern?

• Have you evaluated whether conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, raise 
substantial doubt about the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern?

• Have you concluded that conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, raise substantial 
doubt about the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern?

• If substantial doubt is raised about the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, have 
you documented your consideration of management’s plans to mitigate the relevant 
conditions and events?
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Issues presented by Covid-19 – Going Concern

Going Concern Checklist (2 of 2)

• Have you evaluated whether it’s probable that management’s plans will both:

– Be effectively implemented within one year after the date that the financial statements 
issued

– Mitigate the relevant conditions or events that raised substantial doubt about the entity’s 
ability to continue as a going concern?

• Have you concluded, after consideration of management’s plans, that substantial doubt is 
alleviated?

• Have you provided the required disclosures in the financial statements based on the 
conclusions reached?
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Issues presented by Covid-19 – Going Concern

Going Concern Questions (1 of 2):

1. How has the pandemic affected your revenues and your bottom line?

2. What is your company’s cash position? Is liquidity a challenge?

3. Does your company have the funds to meet its current operating needs?

4. Is your debt coming due within a year?

5. Is your company at risk of not meeting 2020 or 2021 financial covenants?

6. If in default of loan agreements, have defaults been cured?

7. Is your bank asking for more information than ever before?

8. Are you preparing 13-week cash flows for your bank?
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Issues presented by Covid-19 – Going Concern

Going Concern Questions (2 of 2):

9. Are your forecasts being constantly revised?

10. Are your payables being stretched? 

11. If any employees have been furloughed, are they furloughed for longer than expected?

12. If you have laid off any employees, is your company anticipating more layoffs?

13. Is management using proceeds from the CARES Act, such as a PPP loan, to support 
identified liquidity issues?

14. Do you still have some ground to cover in the execution of your COVID-19 response plan?

15. Have your sales and operations begun to stabilize?
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Issues presented by Covid-19 – Going Concern

SAMPLE DISCLOSURE

Note X: Going Concern

The Company has sustained operating losses in 2020 due to the coronavirus, resulting in a net stockholder’s deficiency. In addition, the 
Company is currently in default on certain of its loan agreements. These conditions lead management to believe that there is substantial 
doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Management is currently negotiating with its bank to restructure outstanding loans. In addition, the Company’s owners have agreed to 
defer any salary during 2020 and 2021 and to contribute existing stockholder loans to the equity of the Company (see Note L). While 
management believes the expected success of these actions will allow the Company to continue operations for the foreseeable future, 
there is no assurance that these actions will permit the Company to continue as a going concern in the long-term. The financial 
statements do not include any adjustments that might result if the Company cannot continue as a going concern.
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Issues presented by Covid-19 – Subsequent Events

• There are two types of subsequent events:

– Type 1 subsequent events (recognized subsequent events): events or transactions that 
provide additional evidence about conditions that existed at the date of the balance 
sheet, including the estimates inherent in the process of preparing financial statements.

– Type 2 subsequent events (non-recognized subsequent events): consists of events that 
provide evidence about conditions that did not exist at the date of the balance sheet but 
arose after that date.
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Issues presented by Covid-19 – Subsequent Events

• All entities shall evaluate subsequent events through the date that the financial 
statements are available to be issued (if a non-public entity) and issued (if an SEC filer 
or conduit bond obligor).

– Available to be issued: Financial statements are considered available to be issued when 
they are:

• Complete in a form and format that complies with GAAP, and

• All approvals necessary for issuance have been obtained, such as those from 
management, the board of directors, and/or significant shareholders.

– Issued: Financial statements are considered issued when they are widely distributed to 
shareholders and other financial statement users for general use and reliance in a form 
and format that complies with GAAP.
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Issues presented by Covid-19 – Subsequent Events

• For Type 1 subsequent events, an entity shall recognize in the financial statements the 
effects of all subsequent events that provide additional evidence about conditions that 
existed at the date of the balance sheet, including the estimates inherent in the process of 
preparing financial statements.

• For Type 2 subsequent events, an entity shall not recognize subsequent events that 
provide evidence about conditions that did not exist at the date of the balance sheet but 
arose after the balance sheet date but before financial statements are available to be issued.
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Issues presented by Covid-19 – Subsequent Events

Disclosures:

• An entity that is not an SEC filer shall disclose the following:

– The date through which subsequent events have been evaluated by management.

– Whether that date is the date the financial statements were issued or the date the 
financial statements were available to be issued.

• For those non-recognized subsequent events (Type 2) that are of such a nature that they 
must be disclosed to keep the financial statements from being misleading, an entity shall 
disclose the following:

– The nature of the event

– An estimate of its financial effect, or a statement that such an estimate cannot be made.
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Issues presented by Covid-19 – Subsequent Events

Example 1A: Business is Shut Down under State Mandate- More Expansive Disclosure

NOTE X: Subsequent Event

The Company has evaluated subsequent events through April 23, 2020, which is the date 
through which the financial statements were available to be issued.

In response to an order by the Governor of New Jersey related to the coronavirus (COVID-
19), in March 2020, the Company closed its business on a short-term basis. The Company 
does not know the overall effect on its operations from closing its business.
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Issues presented by Covid-19 – Subsequent Events

Example 1B: Business is a Chain of Liquor Stores and is Considered “Essential” It is Not 
Shut Down under State Mandate- Basic Disclosure

NOTE X: Subsequent Event

The Company has evaluated subsequent events through April 23, 2020, which is the date 
through which the financial statements were available to be issued. 

In response to an order by the Governor of New Jersey related to the coronavirus (COVID-
19) pandemic, in March 2020, most local businesses were required to close operations 
indefinitely. The Company’s liquor stores, were classified as an essential business and were 
permitted to remain open.

The Company does not know the overall effect on its operations from the COVID-19 
pandemic.
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Environmental, Social. And 
Governance (ESG) Services
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ESG Services

• Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) services are new to the accounting 
profession

• Includes

– ESG-linked

• Financing

• Derivatives

• Equity

• Stock compensation

– Government grants

– Tax incentives for ESG projects
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ESG Services

• Carbon offsets - Accounting considerations

– May account for an offset as inventory or an intangible asset

– Expense when company surrenders offset to state or another agency

– Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) services are new to the accounting 
profession

• Renewable energy credits (REC) – Accounting considerations

– May account for a REC as inventory

– Expense when company surrenders REC to state or another agency

• Technology to reduce emissions – Accounting considerations

– Whether or not to capitalize the improvement

– Whether research and development costs should be expensed or capitalized

– Whether government grant accounting applies
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ESG Services

• Sustainability Accounting Standards Board (SASB) establishes standards and guidance

• Components are
– Applicability

– Standards Conformance

– Reporting Boundaries

– Reporting Format

– Governance, Internal Controls, and Assurance

– Reference Updates
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ESG Services

• Standards are by industry

– Consumer goods

– Extractives and minerals processing

– Financials

– Food & beverage

– Health care

– Infrastructure

– Renewable resources & alternative energy

– Resource transformation

– Services

– Technology and communications

– Transportation
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Questions??
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2021 FASB Activity

ASUs Issued
Projects

Exposure Drafts
Simplification

FASB ACTIVITY
ASUs issued Since Jan. 1, 2020:
2020-01 Equity Securities

2020-02 SEC Update

2020-03 Financial Instruments

2020-04 Reference Rate Reform

2020-05 Effective Date Extension

Revenue Recognition & Leases

2020-06 Financial Instruments

2020-07 Not-for-Profit

2020-08 Financial Instruments-Nonrefundable Fees

2020-09 SEC Updates

2020-10 Codification Improvements

2020-11 Effective Date Extension

Insurance

2021-01 Reference Rate Reform

2021-02 Revenue Recognition – Franchisors

2021-03 Goodwill and other Intangibles

2021-04 Freestanding Equity-Classified Written Call

Options
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FASB ACTIVITY
ASUs issued Since Jan. 1, 2020:

Financial Instruments 5

Extensions 2

Reference Rate Reform 2

SEC Updates 2

Goodwill 1

Revenue Recognition 1
Not-for-Profit 1

Codification Improvements 1   

15

5

FASB ACTIVITY

Active Projects (1 of 3):
• Framework:

– Conceptual Framework: Measurement
• Broad:

– Identifiable Intangible Assets and Subsequent Accounting for Goodwill
• Research Projects:

– Accounting and Disclosure, Intangibles
– Financial Performance Reporting (FS of NFP, Structure)
– Hedge Accounting
– Agenda Consultation
– Effect of Sale Restrictions on Fair Value Measurements
– Targeted Improvements to the Statement of Cash Flows
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FASB ACTIVITY

Active Projects (2 of 3):
• Narrow Scope:

– Codification Improvements –Remove References to Concepts Statements

– Codification Improvements (next phase)

– Codification Improvements - Financial Instruments-Credit Losses

– Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity Phase 2

– FV Measurement of Equity Securities Subject to Contractual Sale Restrictions
– Financial Instruments – Credit Losses Acquired Financial Assets

– Financial Instruments – Credit Losses Accounting for Troubled Debt Restructuring

– Accounting by a Joint Venture for Nonmonetary Assets Contributed by Investors
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FASB ACTIVITY

Active Projects (3 of 3):
• Narrow Scope (continued):

– Fair Value Hedging – Portfolio Layer Method

– Improving the Accounting for Asset Acquisitions and Business Combinations

– Reference Rate Reform – Fair Value Hedging

• Presentation and Disclosure

– Disclosures - Interim Reporting

– Disclosure of Supplier Finance Programs Involving Trade Payables

– Financial Performance Reporting-Disaggregation of Performance Information

– Segment Reporting
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FASB ACTIVITY

Exposure Drafts Outstanding (1 of 2):

Presentation & Disclosure Projects:

11/12/15 - Government Assistance

03/25/19 - Income Taxes

05/06/19 - Improvements in Response to the SEC's Release 

Framework Projects:
07/16/20 – Concepts Statement 8, Elements of Financial Statements

08/11/16 – Presentation

9

FASB ACTIVITY

Exposure Drafts Outstanding (2 of 2):

Recognition and Measurement:

09/20/17 - Consolidation Reorganization and Targeted Improvements

11/12/19 - Hedge Accounting

11/26/19 - Amendments to Remove References to the Concepts Statements

08/17/20 - Measure Grant-Date FV of Equity-Classified Share-Based Awards

10/20/20 - Leases, Targeted Improvements

10/20/20 - Leases with Variable Lease Payments

12/15/20 - Recognition and Measurement of Revenue Contracts with Customers

05/20/21 - Derivatives & Hedging, Fair Value Hedging – Portfolio Layer Method

06/16/21 - Discount Rate for Lessees That Are Not Public Business Entities
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FASB’s Simplification Project

Recent Simplification ASUs (1 of 3)
• ASU 2014-08 – Reporting Discontinued Operations and Disclosures of Disposals of 

Components of an Entity

• ASU 2014-10 – Development Stage Entities: Elimination of Certain Financial Reporting 
Requirements, Including an Amendment to Variable Interest Entity Guidance

• ASU 2015-01 – Simplifying Income Statement Presentation by Eliminating the Concept of 
Extraordinary Items

• ASU 2015-03 – Simplifying the Presentation of Debt Issuance Costs

• ASU 2015-05 – Customer’s Accounting for Fees Paid in a Cloud Computing Arrangement

• ASU 2015-11 – Simplifying the Measurement of Inventory

• ASU 2015-12 – Measurement Date of Defined Benefit Pension Plans

FASB’s Simplification Project

Recent Simplification ASUs (2 of 3)
• ASU 2015-12 – Measurement Date of Defined Benefit Pension Plans

• ASU 2015-16 – Simplifying the Accounting for Measurement Period Adjustments

• ASU 2015-17 – Balance Sheet Classification of Deferred Taxes

• ASU 2016-07 – Simplifying the Transition to the Equity Method of Accounting

• ASU 2016-09 – Improvements to Employee Share-Based Payment Accounting

• ASU 2016-16 – Intra-Entity Transfers of Assets Other Than Inventory

• ASU 2017-11 – Liabilities and Equity – Targeted Improvements

• ASU 2018-07 – Improvements to Non-Employee Share-Based Payment Accounting



FASB’s Simplification Project

Recent Simplification ASUs (3 of 3)
• ASU 2018-10 – Codification Improvements to Topic 842, Leases

• ASU 2018-15 – Customer’s Accounting for Implementation Costs Incurred in a Cloud 
Computing Arrangement That is a Service Contract

• ASU 2018-17 – Targeted Improvements to Related Party Guidance for Variable Interest 
Entities

• ASU 2018-18 – Collaborative Arrangements

• ASU 2018-20 – Narrow Scope Improvements for Lessors

• ASU 2019-12 – Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes

• ASU 2021-03 – Goodwill and other Intangibles

FASB’s 2021 Effective Dates

ASUs Implemented in 2021:
• ASU 2017-08, Premium Amortization on Purchased Callable Debt Securities
• ASU 2017-11, Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Down Round Features
• ASU 2017-12, Targeted Improvements to Accounting for Hedging Activities
• ASU 2018-07, Improvements to Non-Employee Share-Based Payment Accounting
• ASU 2018-09, Codification Improvements
• ASU 2018-15, Customers Accounting for Implementation Costs Incurred in a Cloud Computing Arrangement 

that is a Service Contract
• ASU 2018-17, Targeted Improvements to Related party Guidance for Variable Interest Entities
• ASU 2018-18, Collaborative Arrangements: Clarifying the Interaction between Topic 808 and Topic 606
• ASU 2019-02, Improvements to Accounting for Costs of Films and License Agreements for Program 

Materials
• ASU 2020-04, Facilitation of the Effects of Reference Rate Reform on Financial Reporting
• ASU 2021-01, Reference Rate Reform
• ASU 2021-02, Franchisors – Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Subtopic 952-606)
• ASU 2021-03, Intangibles – Goodwill and Other (Topic 350)



Summary of Selected 

ASUs

ASU 2020-04 Reference Rate Reform

Background:

• Many variable interest loans use LIBOR as the benchmark rate for rate adjustments.

• The use of LIBOR will shortly be discontinued causing the need for loans to be modified.

• Financial Instrument standards require that when a triggering event such as change to loan 
terms takes place, the instrument must be re-evaluated for hedge accounting qualifications.



ASU 2020-04 Reference Rate Reform

Provisions:

• Optional guidance related to the accounting for loans modified due to a change in a reference 
rate.

• Optional expedients and exceptions for applying GAAP to contract modifications and hedging 
relationships

• If a debt agreement or lease is changed to use a new interest rate, the modification would be 
accounted for as a continuation of the contract rather than the establishment of a new contract

ASU 2021-01 Reference Rate Reform

Provisions:

• Clarifies that certain optional expedients and exceptions in Topic 848 for contract modifications 
and hedge accounting apply to derivatives that are affected by the discounting transition. 

• Certain provisions in Topic 848, if elected by an entity, apply to derivative instruments that use 
an interest rate for margining, discounting, or contract price alignment that is modified as a 
result of reference rate reform. 

• Updates the expedients and exceptions in Topic 848 to capture the incremental consequences 
of the scope clarification and tailor the existing guidance to derivative instruments affected by 
the discounting transition. 

• Provides a table to summarize the changes.



ASU 2021-02 Revenue Recognition - Franchisors

Provisions

• The ASU provides a practical expedient for franchisors that are not public business entities 
allowing them to account for pre-opening services provided to a franchisee as distinct from 
the franchise license if the services are consistent with those included in a predefined list 
within the guidance

• Additionally, an accounting policy election can be made to recognize the pre-opening services 
as a single performance obligation
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ASU 2021-03, Goodwill & Other Intangibles

Provisions:

• Applies to private companies and not-for-profit entities who have elected the accounting 
alternative to perform goodwill impairments based on a triggering event evaluation.

• Entities are not required to monitor triggering events during the reporting period

• Goodwill impairment testing is done at year end.

• Additional incremental disclosures are not required



ASU 2020-07
Presentation and Disclosures by Not-for-Profit 

Entities for Contributed Non-Financial Assets

ASU 2020-07 Not-For-Profit Entities

Overview:

• Contribution Revenue can be presented as:

‒ Gifts

‒ Donations

‒ Grants

‒ Gifts-in-Kind

‒ Donated services

‒ Etc.



ASU 2020-07 Not-For-Profit Entities

Overview:

• Nonfinancial Assets:

• Fixed assets

• Use of fixed assets or utilities

• Materials and supplies

• Intangible assets, Services

• Unconditional promises of those assets

• Contributions are recognized at fair value

ASU 2020-07 Not-For-Profit Entities

Provisions (1 of 2):

• Financial Statement presentation of gifts in kind:  

‒ Contributed nonfinancial assets are presented as a separate line item in the statement of 
activities

‒ Presented separately from contributions of cash and other financial assets

‒ Note:  Contributed goods are recognized if:
‒ The NFP recipient has discretion in using the distribution the gifts-in-kind (GIK)

‒ The NFP has risks and rewards of ownership over the GIK, such as risk of loss if they are 
lost damaged, or destroyed and the ability to obtain the benefits of and control others’ 
access to the GIK



ASU 2020-07 Not-For-Profit Entities

Provisions (2 of 2):

‒ Required Disclosures:

‒ Disaggregation by category of nonfinancial asset information.  For each category:

‒ Information about whether the assets were monetized or utilized during the reporting 
period.  If utilized, a description of the programs or other activities in which those assets 
were used.

‒ The NFPs policy (if any) for monetizing rather than utilizing contributed nonfinancial 
assets

‒ A description of any associated donor restrictions

‒ A description of the valuation techniques and inputs used to arrive at a fair value

‒ The principal market (or most advantageous market) used to arrive at a fair value 
measurement if it is a market in which the recipient NFP is prohibited by donor 
restrictions from selling or using the contributed nonfinancial asset

ASU 2020-07 Not-For-Profit Entities



ASU 2020-07 Not-For-Profit Entities

ASU 2020-07 Not-For-Profit Entities



ASU 2020-07 Not-For-Profit Entities

ASU 2020-07 Not-For-Profit Entities



ASU 2020-07 Not-For-Profit Entities

ASU 2020-07 Not-For-Profit Entities



ASU 2020-07 Not-For-Profit Entities

Effective Date:

• Applied retrospectively for 

‒ Annual periods beginning after June 15, 2021

‒ Interim periods within the annual years that follow

• Early adoption is permitted

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
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FAS 115 on Marketable Securities (1993)

• Debt and Equity Securities

– Trading FV - NI

– Available for Sale FV - OCI

– Held-to-Maturity Amortized Cost

FAS 159, Fair Value Option (2007)

• Available for Sale FV - NI

• Held-to-Maturity FV - NI

• Equity Method Investments FV - NI



New Financial Instrument Standards

• ASU 2016-01

– Debt Securities (ASC 320) Same as above

– Equity Securities (ASC 321)

• With readily determinable FV FV – NI

• Without readily determinable FV FV - OCI

• ASU 2016-13

– Credit Losses (ASC 326)

• ASU 2017-12

– Derivatives and Hedging (ASC 815)

New Financial Instrument Standards

Related ASC Topics:

• ASC 310 – Accounts Receivable

• ASC 320 – Debt Securities

• ASC 321 – Equity Securities

• ACC 323 – Equity Method and Joint Ventures

• ASC 326 – Financial Instruments, Credit Losses

• ASC 815 – Derivatives and Hedging

• ASC 820 – Fair Value Measurement



ASU 2020-01, Equity Securities

Provisions

• The ASU affects all entities that apply the guidance in Topics 321, 323, and 815 and (1) elect 
to apply the measurement alternative or (2) enter into a forward contract or purchase an option 
to purchase securities that, upon settlement of the forward contract or exercise of the 
purchased option, would be accounted for under the equity method of accounting.

• The ASU clarifies the interaction of the accounting for equity securities under Topic 321 and 
investments accounted for under the equity method of accounting in Topic 323 and the 
accounting for certain forward contracts and purchased options accounted for under Topic 
815, as described in the table below.

ASU 2020-03, Financial Instruments 
Codification Improvements

Provisions - Clarifications made to:

1. Fair value options disclosures

2. Applicability of portfolio exception in Topic 820, Fair Value Measurement, to non-financial 
items

3. Disclosures for depository and lending institutions

4. Cross-reference to line of credit or revolving debt arrangements guidance in Subtopic 470-50, 
Debt: Modifications and Extinguishments

5. Cross-reference to net asset value practical expedient in Subtopic 820-10, Fair Value 
Measurement: Overall

6. Interaction of Topic 842, Leases, and Topic 326, Financial Instruments-Credit Losses

7. Interaction of Topic 326, Financial Instruments-Credit Losses, and Subtopic 860-20, 
Transfers and Servicing: Sales of Financial Assets



ASU 2021-06, Accounting for Convertible Instruments 
and Contracts in an Entity’s Own Equity

• Relates to:

– Convertible preferred stock

– Convertible debt

• Disclosure provisions:

– Information about events or conditions cause conversion contingencies to be met or 
conversion terms to be significantly changed

– Information on who controls the conversion rights

– Aligns requirements for contingently convertible instruments with disclosures required for 
other convertible instruments

– Requires that existing fair value disclosures be provided at the individual convertible 
instrument level rather than in the aggregate

– The level of fair value hierarchy of the entire instrument for public business entities and the 
premium amount recorded as paid-in capital for convertible debt instruments with 
substantial premiums that are accounted for as paid-in-capital at fair value

ASU 2020-08, Non-Refundable Fees and Other Costs

Provisions:

• Relates to the period premiums are amortized on callable debt securities

• Shortened the period used from the contractual life of the instrument to the period from 
acquisition to the earliest call date



ASU 2021-04, Freestanding Equity-
Classified Written Call Options

ASU 2021-04, Issuer’s Accounting for Certain Modifications or Exchanges of Freestanding 
Equity-Classified Written Call Options

An entity should treat a modification of the terms or conditions or an exchange of a freestanding 
equity-classified written call option that remains equity classified after modification or exchange 
as an exchange of the original instrument for a new instrument.

• An entity should measure the effect of a modification or an exchange of a freestanding equity-
classified written call option that remains equity classified after modification or exchange.

• An entity should recognize the effect of a modification or an exchange of a freestanding equity-
classified written call option that remains equity classified after modification or exchange on 
the basis of the substance of the transaction, in the same manner as if cash had been paid as 
consideration.

• Effective for all entities for fiscal years beginning after December 15. 2021

Accounting for and Auditing of

Digital Assets 

44



Accounting and Auditing Digital Assets

• There has been an increase in the use of digital assets

• The most common digital asset is cryptocurrency (e.g., Bitcoins)

• FASB has issued no guidance on how to account for such assets

• The AICPA has created a digital assets working group to help members in recording 
transactions

• The AICPA has issued a 40-page practice aid on accounting on accounting and auditing 
digital currency

45

Accounting and Auditing Digital Assets

• AICPA Practice Aid combines guidance from two subgroups

– Accounting subgroup (23 Q&As)

– Auditing subgroup (Guidance on client acceptance and continuance)
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Accounting and Auditing Digital Assets

• Accounting subgroup classifies Q&As into the following areas:
– Classification and measurement when an entity purchases crypto assets

– Recognition and initial measurement when an entity receives digital assets that are classified as 
indefinite-lived intangible assets.

– Subsequent accounting for digital assets classified as indefinite-lived intangible assets

– Measurement of cost basis of digital assets that are classified as indefinite-lived intangible assets

– Derecognition of digital asset holdings that are classified as indefinite0lived intangible assets

– Recognition of digital assets when an entity uses a third-party hosted wallet service

– Meeting the definition of an investment company when engaging in digital asset activities

– Accounting by an investment company for digital assets it holds as an investment

– Recognition, measurement, and presentation of digital assets specific to broker-dealers

– Considerations for crypto assets that require fair value measurement

– Accounting for stablecoin holdings

47

Accounting and Auditing Digital Assets

• In general, not investment companies record crypto currency using the following rules  Digital 
assets, are

– Recorded at cost

– Recorded as intangibles

– Tested annually for impairment using a qualitative approach

– Derecognized when impaired

– Not written up if, and when impairments are recovered.

• Note this is different from the tax treatment of digital assets
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Questions?????
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2021 Auditing Standards Update  Overview

Standard Setting Bodies

• Three Authoritative Standards

– International standards issued by the International Auditing and Assurance Standards 
Board (IAASB)

– U.S. public company standards issued by the Public Company Accounting Oversight 
Board (PCAOB)

– Private company standards issued by the AICPA’s Auditing Standards Board (ASB)

• Creditor’s can be confused by the differences in the standards and reports

• The ASB when practical will issue standards consistent with the other boards 
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2021 Auditing Standards Update  Overview

Components of Audit Quality

• Pre-Licensure

• Standards and Ethics

• CPA Learning and Support

• Peer Review

• Practice Monitoring

• Enforcement
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Auditing Standards Update  SASs 134 - 144

New Auditing Standards Issued in 2019:

• SAS 134 - Auditor Reporting and Amendments, Including Amendments Addressing 
Disclosures in the Audit of Financial Statements (May 2019)

• SAS 135 - Omnibus Statement on Auditing Standards—2019 (May 2019)

• SAS 136 - Forming an Opinion and Reporting on Financial Statements of Employee Benefit 
Plans Subject to ERISA (May 2019)

• SAS 137 - The Auditor’s Responsibilities Relating to Other Information Included in Annual 
Reports (July 2019)

• SAS 138 - Amendments to the Description of the Concept of Materiality (Dec. 2019)
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Auditing Standards Update  SASs 134 - 144

New Auditing Standards Issued in 2020 & 2021:

• SAS 139 - Amendments to AU-C Sections 800, 805, and 810 (March 2020)

• SAS 140 - Amendments to AU-C Sections 725, 730, 930, 935, and 940 (April 2020)

• SAS 141 - Amendment to the Effective Dates of SAS Nos. 134-140 (May 2020)

• SAS 142 - Audit Evidence (July 2020)

• SAS 143 - Auditing Accounting Estimates and Related Disclosures  (July 2020)

• SAS 144 – Use of Specialists and the Use of Pricing Information Obtained From External 
Information Sources (June 2021)
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Auditing Standards Update  SASs 134 - 144

Summary of Changes:

SAS Topic
134 New Audit Report
135 Communication, Related Parties, Fraud
136 Employee Benefit Plans
137 Information Included in an Annual Report
138 Materiality
139 Special Purpose Frameworks
140 Compliance Audits, Supplementary Information, Clarification and Recodification, 

Letters for Underwriters and Certain Other Requesting Parties, and Interim 
Financial Information

141 Change of Effective Dates
142 Audit Evidence
143 Auditing Estimates and Disclosures
144 Use of Specialists and Pricing Information from External Sources
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Auditing Standards Update  SASs 134 – 144
SAS 134

• Supersedes the guidance in the following sections:

– AU-C 700, Forming an Opinion and Reporting on Financial Statements

– AU-C 705, Modifications to the Opinion in the Independent Auditor’s Report

– AU-C 706, Emphasis-of-Matter Paragraphs and Other-Matter Paragraphs in the 
Independent Auditor’s Report

• Adds new AU-C 701, Communicating Key Audit Matters in the Independent Auditor’s Report

• Amends numerous sections of SAS 122 for conformity and SAS 132, Going Concern
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Auditing Standards Update  SASs 134 – 144
SAS 134

Important changes in SAS 134:

• The auditor’s opinion is now the first section of the report 

• The Basis for the Opinion section follows the report
– More focused on Independence

– Clarifies that there are other ethical requirements of the audit engagement

• New wording for the section related to auditor’s responsibilities
– Communication with those charged with governance

– Headed “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements”

• Management and the auditor’s responsibilities in reporting entity’s ability to continue as a 
going concern are described
– AU-C 570, The Auditor’s Consideration of an Entity’s Ability to Continue as a Going Concern, 

added a section on substantial doubt

• Optional reporting of Key Audit Matters
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AICPA CAM Analysis
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AICPA CAM Analysis
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CAM Analysis
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Auditing Standards Update  SASs 134 – 144
SAS 134

Important changes in SAS 134:

• Changes in Auditor Responsibilities

• Maintain professional skepticism

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks

• Obtain an understanding of internal control 

• Evaluate the financial statement presentation

• Evaluate managements assessment when there is substantial doubt about the reporting 
entity’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time

• Updated required communications

• Many sample reports are provided
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Auditing Standards Update  SASs 134 – 144
SAS 134
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Auditing Standards Update  SASs 134 – 144
SAS 134

15

Sample auditor’s opinion paragraph (first section in new auditor’s report)

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of ABC Company, which comprise the balance sheets as of 
December 31, 20X1 and 20X0, and the related statements of income, changes in stockholders’ equity, 
and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of ABC Company as of December 31, 20X1 and 20X0, and the results  of its 
operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America.

Auditing Standards Update  SASs 134 – 144
SAS 134

Sample auditor’s basis for opinion paragraph (second section in new auditor’s report)

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America (GAAS). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be 
independent of ABC Company and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the 
relevant ethical requirements relating to our audits. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
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Auditing Standards Update  SASs 134 – 144
SAS 134

Optional KAM Reporting:

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that were communicated with those charged with governance and, in 
our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the financial statements of the 
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a 
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

We have determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our 
report.
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Auditing Standards Update  SASs 134 – 144
SAS 134

Provisions for environmental costs: 

The Company’s environmental cost provisions relate to a number of sites owned and managed by the 
Company on which there are retail gas stations. These environmental cost provisions rise to the level of a 
key audit matter due primarily to the number of estimated uncertainties that exist in relation to the total 
environmental liability provision. Those uncertainties include the impact of state and federal regulations, 
the extent of remediation required at each location, the methods and technologies that are suitable to the 
remediation, and the discount rates used in the computations. Moreover, in one particular location, several 
parties were named by the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) as responsible parties to the extent 
that is still unclear the Company’s share of any environmental remediation costs pertaining to that site. 
Because of the uncertainties related to these environmental liability provision, we classify this provision 
as a higher risk in both the current year and prior year financial statements. 
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Auditing Standards Update  SASs 134 – 144
SAS 134

How we addressed this key audit matter during our audit: 

We tested the controls over the determination of the discount rate and over the computation of the 
forecast cash flows. The expenditure required to remediate the sites is determined by management with 
the support of their internal and external specialists. We also reviewed the reports provided by both 
internal and external specialists engaged by management and agreed that the expenditures forecasts 
prepared by management reasonably supports management’s remediation provision. 

With respect to the one major site, we engaged our own environmental specialists and legal counsel to 
review management’s estimate, including the chemical composition of the identified pollutants and legal 
opinions received by the Company. This information was used to calculate independently a likely range 
of costs that the Company should ultimately incur for its share of remediation costs for that site. 

Further discussion of these remediation provisions is included in Notes 2 and 10 of the Notes to Financial 
Statements.
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Key observations

We consider the estimated costs of remediation for identified sites to be reasonable and that the discount 
rate used by management is at the mid-point of our internally developed acceptable range. With respect to 
the major U.S. site, we concluded that management’s estimate of the proportion of costs expected to be 
borne by the Group was within our independently calculated range. 
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Sample responsibilities of management opinion paragraph (fourth section in new auditor’s report)

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are 
conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about ABC 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern for [insert the time period set by the applicable 
financial reporting framework].
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Sample auditor’s responsibility paragraph (fifth section in new auditor’s report) (1 of 3)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and 
therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users made on the basis of these financial statements. 
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Sample auditor’s responsibility paragraph (fifth section in new auditor’s report) (2 of 3)

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we: 

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 
and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test 
basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of ABC 
Company’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

• Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise 
substantial doubt about ABC Company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time. 
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Sample auditor’s responsibility paragraph (fifth section in new auditor’s report) (3 of 3)

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control–related 
matters that we identified during the audit.

Additional paragraphs are added at the end

[Signature of the auditor’s firm] 

[City and state where the auditor’s report is issued] 

[Date of the auditor’s report] 
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Illustrations included in the standard (1 of 3)

1. An Auditor’s Report on Comparative Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance With Accounting 
Principles Generally Accepted in the United States of America

2. An Auditor’s Report on Comparative Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance With Accounting 
Principles Generally Accepted in the United States of America, Including Communication of Key 
Audit Matters

3. An Auditor’s Report on Financial Statements for a Single Year Prepared in Accordance With 
Accounting Principles Generally Accepted in the United States of America

4. An Auditor’s Report on Comparative Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance With Accounting 
Principles Generally Accepted in the United States of America When the Audit Has Been Conducted 
in Accordance With Both Auditing Standards Generally Accepted in the United States of America 
and International Standards on Auditing
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Illustrations included in the standard (2 of 3)

5. An Auditor’s Report on Financial Statements for a Single Year Prepared in Accordance With 
Accounting Principles Generally Accepted in the United States of America When Comparative 
Summarized Financial Information Derived From Audited Financial Statements for the Prior Year Is 
Presented

6. An Auditor’s Report on Financial Statements for a Single Year Prepared in Accordance With 
Accounting Principles Generally Accepted in the United States of America When Comparative 
Summarized Financial Information Derived From Unaudited Financial Statements for the Prior Year 
Is Presented

7. An Auditor’s Report on Comparative Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance With Accounting 
Principles Generally Accepted in the United States of America When the Audit Has Been Conducted 
by a Registered Firm in Accordance With Both Auditing Standards Generally Accepted in the United 
States of America and the Auditing and Professional Practice Standards of the Public Company 
Accounting Oversight Board
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Illustrations included in the standard (3 of 3)

8. An Auditor’s Report on Comparative Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance With Accounting 
Principles Generally Accepted in the United States of America When the Audit Has Been Conducted 
by a Nonregistered Firm in Accordance With Both Auditing Standards Generally Accepted in the 
United States of America and the Auditing Standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight 
Board
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Going concern paragraph

Substantial Doubt About the Company’s Ability to Continue as a Going Concern

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a 
going concern. As discussed in Note X to the financial statements, the Company has suffered recurring 
losses from operations, has a net capital deficiency, and has stated that substantial doubt exists about the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Management’s evaluation of the events and conditions 
and management’s plans regarding these matters are also described in Note X. The financial statements 
do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty. Our opinion is not 
modified with respect to this matter.
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Going concern paragraph - substantial doubt has been alleviated

Emphasis-of-Matter

As discussed in Note X to the financial statements, the Company has suffered recurring losses from 
operations and has a net capital deficiency. Management’s evaluation of the events and conditions and 
management’s plans to mitigate these matters are also described in Note X. Our opinion is not modified 
with respect to this matter.

29

Auditing Standards Update  SASs 134 – 144
SAS 135

SAS 135 Overview

• Standard amends:

– AU-C 260, The Auditor’s Communication with Those Charged with Governance

– AU-C 550, Related Parties

– AU-C 240, Consideration of Fraud in a Financial Statement Audit
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SAS 135 Overview AU-C 260, Communication with Governance

• Goal is to align SAS guidance with that of the PCAOB

• Communication of significant unusual transactions related to 

– Policies and practices management used to account for transactions

– auditor's understanding of the business purpose of the transactions

• Consultations with outside engagement team that were contentious or difficult related to 
those charged with governance

• Uncorrected misstatements

– Potential effects on future periods

– Any underlying matters, even if immaterial

• Participate in, or confirm any communications related to omitted or inadequately-
described matters between management and those charged with governance
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SAS 135 Overview AU-C 550, Related Parties

• Auditors’ responsibilities related to related party relationships and transactions

• Expands audit procedures.

– Understanding of the entity

– Risks of material misstatement

– Audit procedures in relationship to the risks

– audit evidence

– Consideration of fraud
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SAS 135 Overview AU-C 240, Consideration of Fraud

• Defines Significant Unusual Transactions as:

Significant transactions that are outside the normal course of business for the reporting 
entity or that otherwise appear to be unusual due to their timing, size, or nature

• Inquire if entity has entered into any significant unusual transactions

• Inquire if internal auditor is aware of any significant unusual transactions

• Inquire if those charged with governance if the entity has entered into any significant unusual 
transactions

• Evaluate the business purpose of significant unusual transactions and if they suggest there 
may be fraudulent financial reporting.
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SAS 136 Changes (1 of 3):

• In general,

– Changes made in consultation with the U.S. Department of Labor

– Applies on to audits of financial statements for ERISA plans

– Adds audit requirements to address ERISA plans

– New reporting and performance requirements in AU-C 703
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SAS 136 Changes (2 of 3):

• Significant changes:

– Report letter for ERISA audits will align with SAS 134 and SAS 135

– Management’s election to exclude certain investment information

– Change in terms – “limited scope” becomes “ERISA Section 103(a)(3)(C)” audit

• Areas of new and/or expanded requirements include:

– Engagement acceptance

– Audit risk assessment and response

– Forming an opinion

– Reporting on ERISA required supplemental schedule

– Communication with those charged with governance

– Written representations requested from management

– Considerations for Form 5500, Annual Return

– Key audit matters
35

Auditing Standards Update  SASs 134 – 144
SAS 136

SAS 136 Changes (3 of 3):

• Auditor’s report:

– First section: Scope and nature on ERISA Section 103(a)(3(C) audits

– Second section: The auditor's opinion

– Third section: Basis of opinion

– Basis of opinion is more focused on

• Independence

• Ethical requirements in the audit engagement

– Auditor’s responsibilities section is revised

• Headed “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements”

• Clarifies the nature of ERISA Section 103(a)(3)(C) audits

– ERISA required supplemental schedules are in other-matter paragraph
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SAS 137 Addresses:

• Auditor’s responsibility related to 

– Other information

– Annual reports (Form 5500 is not considered to be an annual report)

• Financial and non-financial information

• Standard is expected to reduce diversity in practice and improve transparency

• Requires auditor to read financial statements and consider consistency with other auditor 
knowledge and consider material misstatements in the financial information and other 
information
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SAS 137 Requirements of the Auditor:

• Obtaining other information

– Determine which documents comprise the annual report

– Management’s written acknowledgement related to the documents

– Entity’s manner and timing of the issuances of the documents

– Final version of documents, preferably before the date of the audit report

– Management’s written representation that the final version will be provided after date of 
the auditor’s report

• Communication with those charged with governance the following:

– Auditor’s responsibility related to the other information

– Procedures performed

– Result of procedures performed

38



Auditing Standards Update  SASs 134 – 144
SAS 137

SAS 137 Reading and Considering Other Information:

• When reading other information, the auditor should:

– Consider whether a material inconsistency exits between the financial statements and the 
other information

– Compare selected amounts or other items in the other information to the financial 
statements

– Review to see if a material inconsistency exists between the auditor’s knowledge and the 
other information

– Review for existence of a material misstatement of fact or other information that is 
misleading
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SAS 137 Reading and Considering Other Information:

Requirements of the Auditor

• When the other information appears to be misstated or is materially inconsistent, the auditor 
should perform procedures to determine if: 

– The other information contains a material misstatement

– The financial statements contain a material misstatement

– The understanding of the entity and the environment needs to be updated
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SAS 137 Reading and Considering Other Information:

Reporting

• A separate section in the auditor’s report titled “Other Information” should include: 

– Management’s responsibility for the other information

– Identification of the other information

– Other information does not include the financial statement and the auditor’s report

– Auditor’s opinion does not cover or express an opinion or assurance on the other 
information

– Auditor’s responsibility is to read the other information to determine if a material 
inconsistency exists concerning a material misstatement

– Should the auditor conclude that there exists an uncorrected material misstatement, that 
fact will be required to be described in the auditor’s report
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SAS 137 Reading and Considering Other Information:

Required Documentation Includes:

• Procedures performed

• Final version of the other information on which the procedures were performed
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Sample Report Paragraph:

The Auditor Has Not Identified an Uncorrected Material Misstatement of the Other Information 

Other Information [Included in the Annual Report] 

Management is responsible for the other information [included in the annual report]. The other 
information comprises the [information included in the annual report]1 but does not include the financial 
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the 
other information, and we do not express an opinion or any form of assurance thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and consider whether a material inconsistency exists between the other information and the financial 
statements, or the other information otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work 
performed, we conclude that an uncorrected material misstatement of the other information exists, we are 
required to describe it in our report. 
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Sample Report Paragraph:
The Auditor Has Concluded That an Uncorrected Material Misstatement of the Other Information Exists 

Other Information [Included in the Annual Report] 

Management is responsible for the other information [included in the annual report]. The other information 
comprises the [information included in the annual report]2 but does not include the financial statements and our 
auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information, and we do not 
express an opinion or any form of assurance thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and 
consider whether a material inconsistency exists between the other information and the financial statements, or the 
other information otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work performed, we conclude that an 
uncorrected material misstatement of the other information exists, we are required to describe it in our report. As 
described below, we have concluded that such an uncorrected material misstatement of the other information exists. 

[Description of material misstatement of the other information] 
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SAS 138 Materiality:

• This standard is not expected nor intended to change U.S. attestation practices.
• The purpose is to align descriptions of materiality used in the U.S. judicial system and U.S. 

standard setters

Definition of materiality:
Misstatements, including omissions, are considered to be material if there is a substantial 
likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by 
a reasonable user based on the financial statements.
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SAS 139 Amendments to AU-C 800, 805, and 810:

• Reflects guidance in new SAS 134 to 137

• Three Main changes:

– AU-C 800 is changed the audit report wording when the financial statements are 
prepared on a regulatory or contractual basis of accounting or any other basis and the 
use is restricted that alerts the user to the fact the financial statements may not be 
suitable for another purpose other than the intended purpose

• There should be reference to the note to the financial statements with the required 
information of the purpose of the financial statements

– AU-C 805 revises guidance on considerations when reporting on a single financial 
statement or a specific element of a financial statement

– AU-C 810 updates guidance when the auditor’s report includes communication about key 
audit matters
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Cash Basis of Accounting Emphasis of Mater Paragraph (after basis of opinion):

Emphasis of Matter — Basis of Accounting

We draw attention to Note X of the financial statements, which describes the basis of accounting. The 
financial statements are prepared on the cash basis of accounting, which is a basis of accounting other 
than accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Our opinion is not 
modified with respect to this matter. 
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Tax Basis of Accounting Emphasis of Mater Paragraph (after basis of opinion):

Emphasis of Matter — Basis of Accounting

We draw attention to Note X of the financial statements, which describes the basis of accounting. The 
financial statements are prepared on the basis of accounting ABC Partnership uses for income tax 
purposes, which is a basis of accounting other than accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter. 
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Regulatory Basis of Accounting (Restricted Use) Emphasis of Mater Paragraph (after 
basis of opinion):

Emphasis of Matter — Basis of Accounting

We draw attention to Note X of the financial statements, which describes the basis of accounting. Special 
Considerations — Audits of Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance With Special Purpose 
Frameworks.  As described in Note X to the financial statements, the financial statements are prepared by 
ABC Government Authority on the basis of the financial reporting provisions of Section Y of Regulation 
Z of Any State Statutes, which is a basis of accounting other than accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America, to meet the requirements of Any State Statutes. As a result, the 
financial statements may not be suitable for another purpose. Our opinion is not modified with respect to 
this matter. 
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Regulatory Basis of Accounting (Restricted Use) Restricted Use Paragraph (after 
auditor’s responsibilities):

Restriction on Use

Our report is intended solely for the information and use of ABC Government Authority and is not 
intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties. 
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Contractual Basis of Accounting Paragraph (after basis of opinion):

Emphasis of Matter — Basis of Accounting 

We draw attention to Note X of the financial statements, which describes the basis of accounting. The 
financial statements are prepared by ABC Company on the basis of the financial reporting provisions of 
Section Z of the contract, which is a basis of accounting other than accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America, to comply with the financial reporting provisions of the contract 
referred to above. As a result, the financial statements may not be suitable for another purpose. Our 
opinion is not modified with respect to this matter.
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Regulatory Basis of Accounting Paragraph Restricted Use Paragraph (after auditor’s 
responsibilities):

Restriction on Use

Our report is intended solely for the information and use of ABC Company and DEF Company and is not 
intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties. 
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Reporting on Single Financial Statements and a Specific Element of a Financial 
Statement:

The standard includes the following illustrations:
• Illustration 1 — An Auditor's Report on a Single Financial Statement Prepared in Accordance With a General 

Purpose Framework 

• Illustration 2 — An Auditor's Report on a Single Financial Statement Prepared in Accordance With a Special 
Purpose Framework 

• Illustration 3 — An Auditor's Report on a Specific Element, Account, or Item of a Financial Statement Prepared 
in Accordance With a General Purpose Framework 

• Illustration 4 — An Auditor's Report on a Specific Element, Account, or Item of a Financial Statement Prepared 
in Accordance With a Special Purpose Framework 

• Illustration 5 — An Auditor's Report on an Incomplete Presentation but One That Is Otherwise in Accordance 
With Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 
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SAS 140 Amendments to AU-C 725, 730, 930, 935, and 940:

Updates and Amends (1 of 2)

• SAS 117, AU-C 935, Compliance Audits

• SAS 119, AU-C 725, Supplementary Information in Relation to the Financial Statements as a 
Whole  

• SAS 120, AU-C 730, Required Supplementary Information 

• SAS 122, Statements on Auditing Standards: Clarification and Recodification

– AU-C 920, Letters for Underwriters and Certain Other Requesting Parties

– AU-C 930, Interim Financial Information
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SAS 140 Amendments to AU-C 725, 730, 930, 935, and 940:

Updates and Amends (2 of 2)

• SAS 124, AU-C 910, Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance With a Financial 
Reporting Framework Generally Accepted in Another Country

• SAS 130, AU-C 940, An Audit of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting That Is Integrated 
With an Audit of Financial Statements 

• SAS 134, Auditor Reporting and Amendments, Including Amendments Addressing 
Disclosures in the Audit of Financial Statements

– AU-C 706, Emphasis-of-Matter Paragraphs and Other-Matter Paragraphs in the 
Independent Auditor’s Report 

• SAS 136, Forming an Opinion and Reporting on Financial Statements of Employee Benefit 
Plans Subject to ERISA
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SAS 140 Completes the Projects on Auditor Reporting Standards:

Changes (1 of 3):

• AU-C 930

– The reporting requirements with respect to reviews of interim financial information are 
revised to harmonize with the requirements in the PCAOB’s Auditing Standard (AS) 
4105, Reviews of Interim Financial Information. 

– The changes include the placement of the auditor’s review conclusion at the beginning of 
the review report on interim financial information. 

• AU-C 935 is revised for consistency with the recent issuance of Uniform Guidance, changes 
in OMB Compliance Supplement and the most recently issued Yellow Book.
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SAS 140 Completes the Projects on Auditor Reporting Standards:

Changes (2 of 3):

• AU-C 940 Significant changes to the reporting requirements with respect to audits of internal 
control over financial reporting that is integrated with an audit of financial statements include 
the following:
– When issuing a separate report on ICFR, requiring paragraphs to be placed within (a) the “Opinion” 

section following the opinion paragraph in the auditor’s report on the financial statements that 
references to the report on ICFR and (b) the “Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting” 
section following the opinion paragraph in the report on ICFR that references to the report on the 
financial statements 

– Revising requirements on how to report when issuing an adverse opinion or disclaiming an opinion 
because of a scope limitation 

– Addressing situations when management includes additional information in management’s report or 
includes additional information in a document containing management’s report and the related 
auditor’s report 
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SAS 140 Completes the Projects on Auditor Reporting Standards:

Changes (3 of 3):

• AU-C 725 and 730 aligned with SAS No. 137 

– AU-C 725 and 730 include requirements for the auditor to report on supplementary 
information and required supplementary information, as applicable. 

– As supplementary information and required supplementary information are comparable to 
other information, AU-C 725 and 730 are amended to require reporting in a separate 
section of the auditor’s report as opposed to in an other-matter paragraph.  , 
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SAS 141, Amendment of Effective Dates of SAS Nos. 134-140

• The effective date of SAS Nos. 134-140 is delayed one year to December 15, 2021.

• Statements 134, 136, 137, and 139 did not permit early implementation.  Early 
implementation is now permitted

• SAS 134, and 136-140 are interrelated.  They must me implemented as a suite.
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SAS 142, Audit Evidence (1 of 3)

• The auditor should evaluate information to be used as audit evidence by taking into account

‒ The relevance and reliability of the information

‒ The source of the information

‒ Whether such information corroborates or contradicts assertions in the financial 
statements.

• The evaluation should include

‒ Whether the information is sufficiently precise and detailed for the auditor’s purpose

‒ Obtaining evidence about the accuracy and completeness of the information
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SAS 142, Audit Evidence (2 of 3)

• The auditor should consider whether the result of audit procedures and the audit evidence 
provide a basis for concluding on the sufficiency and appropriateness of audit evidence 
obtained

• The auditor should determine if there should be a modification or addition to audit 
procedures to resolve inconsistencies or doubts about the reliability of audit evidence, 
including when

‒ Audit evidence from one source is inconsistent with that obtained from another source

‒ The results of one audit procedure is inconsistent with the results of another audit 
procedure
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SAS 142, Audit Evidence (3 of 3)

• The objective of the auditor is to evaluate information to be used as audit evidence, including 
the results of audit procedures, to inform the auditor’s overall conclusion about whether 
sufficient appropriate audit evidence has been obtained.

• Descriptions of the key changes:

– Expanded guidance on evaluating whether sufficient appropriate audit evidence has been obtained. 

– Automated Tools and techniques

– Professional skepticism

– Management specialists
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SAS 143, Auditing Accounting Estimates and Related Disclosures (1 of 7)

• Objective: The objective of the auditor is to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence 
about whether accounting estimates and related disclosures in the financial statements are 
reasonable, in the context of the applicable financial reporting framework. 

• Defines:

– Accounting Estimate

– Auditor’s point estimate or auditor’s range

– Estimation uncertainty

– Management bias
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SAS 143, Auditing Accounting Estimates and Related Disclosures (2 of 7)

• The auditor must obtain and understanding of the entity and its environment

– The entity’s transactions and other events and conditions that may give rise of the need 
for changes in accounting estimates.

– The requirements of the applicable financial reporting framework related to 
accounting estimates and how they apply in the context of the nature and circumstances.

– Regulatory factors related to estimates

– The nature of accounting estimates and related disclosures that the auditor expects 
to be included in the entity’s financial statements
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SAS 143, Auditing Accounting Estimates and Related Disclosures (3 of 7)

• The auditor must obtain and understanding of the entity’s internal control in AU-C 315 
related to estimates

‒ The nature and extent of oversight and governance

‒ How management identifies the need for and applies specialized skills or knowledge

‒ How the entity’s risk assessment process identifies and addresses risks related to 
estimates

‒ Control activities

‒ How management review the outcomes of previous accounting estimates and 
responds to the results of that review.
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SAS 143, Auditing Accounting Estimates and Related Disclosures (4 of 7)

• The auditor should review the outcome of previous accounting estimate or subsequent re-
estimation and should take into account the characteristics of the accounting estimates in 
determining the nature and extent of that review

• Engagement teams should possess the required specialized skills, or knowledge to 
perform the risk assessment procedures

• The auditor should identify and assess the risks of material misstatements

• Auditor’s further audit procedures should be responsive to the assessed risks of material 
misstatement at the relevant assertion level.
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SAS 143, Auditing Accounting Estimates and Related Disclosures (5 of 7)

• The auditor should design and preform tests to obtain sufficient appropriate audit 
evidence about operating effectiveness of relevant controls.

• Auditor’s further procedure should include tests of controls in the current period if the 
auditor plans to rely on those controls

• Auditor should test how management made accounting estimates

• Methods

• Significant assumptions

• Data

• Management selection of a point estimate and related disclosures about estimation 
uncertainty
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SAS 143, Auditing Accounting Estimates and Related Disclosures (6 of 7)

• Other Considerations

• Auditor should comply with AU-C 500 and AU-C 501 related to Specific considerations 
for selected items

• Management’s specialists may assist the auditor in evaluating the appropriateness of 
the specialist’s work as evidence
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SAS 143, Auditing Accounting Estimates and Related Disclosures (7 of 7)

• The auditor should also assess

• Disclosures related to accounting estimates

• Indicators of possible management bias

• Overall evaluation based on audit procedures performed

• Determining whether the accounting estimates are reasonable or misstated

• Communication with those charged with governance, management or other relevant 
parties

• Documentation

• Effective Date: Effective for audits of financial statements for periods ending on or after 
December 15, 2023
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SAS 144, The Use of Specialists and the Use of Pricing Information Obtained From 
External Sources

• Effective Date: Audits of financial statements for periods ending on or after December 15, 
2023.  Early implementation is permitted.

• Amends (1 of 2)

• AU-C 501, Audit Evidence - Specific Considerations for Selected Items

• Certain amendments enhance guidance about evaluating the work of the 
management’s specialist. 

• Other amendments are made to no longer refer to using the work of an external 
inventory-taking firm as using the work of a management’s specialist. 

• These amendments are not intended nor expected to change existing practice. 
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Auditing Standards Update  SASs 134 – 144
SAS 144

SAS 144, The Use of Specialists and the Use of Pricing Information Obtained From 
External Sources (1 of 2)

• Amends (2 of 2)

• AU-C 540, Auditing Accounting Estimates and Related Disclosures

• Adds a new appendix, “Use of Pricing Information From Third Parties as Audit 
Evidence,”

• Provides guidance on using such information as audit evidence for estimates related 
to the fair value of financial instruments. 

• Based on PCAOB Auditing Standard 2501, Auditing Accounting Estimates, Including 
Fair Value Measurements

• AU-C 620, Using the Work of an Auditor’s Specialist

• Enhances the guidance related to using the work of an auditor’s specialist
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Questions???
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Identifying the Applicable Standards
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Discussion and 
Analysis

AT 395
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AICPA Code of Professional Conduct

• Independence is required when

– Audit

– Review

– Attestation engagements under the SSAEs

– Compilation that does not disclose lack of independence

7

AICPA Code of Professional Conduct
Independence Topics and Subtopics:

• 1.210 Conceptual Framework Approach

• 1.220 Accounting Firms

• 1.224 Affiliates, Including Governmental Units

• 1.226 Reissued Reports

• 1.228 Engagement Contractual Terms

• 1.230 Fees

• 1.240 Financial Interests

• 1.245 Trusts and Estates

• 1.250 Participation in Employee Benefit Plans

• 1.255 Depository, Brokerage, and Other Accounts

• 1.257 Insurance Products

• 1.260 Loans, Leases, and Guarantees

• 1.265 Business Relationships

• 1.270 Family Relationships With Attest Clients

• 1.275 Current Employment or Association With an Attest Client

• 1.277 Former Employment or Association With an Attest 
Client

• 1.279 Considering or Subsequent Employment or

Association With an Attest Client

• 1.280 Memberships

• 1.285 Gifts and Entertainment

• 1.290 Actual or Threatened Litigation

• 1.295 Nonattest Services

• 1.297 Independence Standards for Engagements

Performed in Accordance with Statements on Standards

for Attestation Engagements

• 1.298 Breach of Independence Interpretation
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AICPA Code of Professional Conduct

Subtopic 1.295 – Nonattest Services:

• Advisory services 

• Appraisal, valuation, and actuarial services 

• Benefit plan administration

• Bookkeeping, payroll, and other 
disbursements

• Business risk consulting 

• Corporate finance consulting 

• Executive or employee recruiting 

• Forensic accounting 

• Hosting

• Information systems design, installation, 
or integration

• Internal audit

• Investment advisory or management

• Tax services

9

AICPA Code of Professional Conduct

Overriding principle for nonattest services:

If a member were to assume a management responsibility for an attest client, the 
management participation threat would be so significant that no safeguards could reduce the 
threat to an acceptable level and independence would be impaired. (ET 1.295.030.01)
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AICPA Code of Professional Conduct

Management Responsibilities (1 of 2)

• Setting policies or strategic direction for the client

• Directing or accepting responsibility for client employees except when permitted

• Authorize, approve, execute or consummate a transaction or exercise authority on behalf of 
a client

• Preparing source documents

• Having custody of client assets

• Deciding recommendations to be implemented or prioritized

11

AICPA Code of Professional Conduct

Management Responsibilities (2 of 2)

• Reporting to those in charge of governance on behalf of management

• Serving as the client transfer agent

• Accepting responsibility for the management of a client’s project

• Accepting responsibility for the preparation and fair presentation of the client’s financial 
statements

• Accepting responsibility for designing, implementing, or maintaining internal controls

• Performing ongoing evaluations of internal control
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AICPA Code of Professional Conduct

Hosting Services:

• Involves the member accepting responsibility for:

– Acting as host of financial or non-financial information

– Taking custody of or storing data

– Providing electronic security or back up

• Underlying premise:

– It is management’s responsibility to keep the company’s records

– If management is relying on a CPA to keep records, the CPA is performing a 
management responsibility that will impair independence.

13

AICPA Code of Professional Conduct

Hosting Services:

• Records can be:

– Tax returns and financial statements

– Contracts

– Regulatory filings

– Corporate book

– Accounting books and records

• Primary areas of concern

– Location of QuickBooks file

– Client retention of tax records

14



AICPA Code of Professional Conduct

Hosting Services:

Will not impair independence (1 of 2):

• Retaining a copy of client’s data or records that support a service the member provided

• Retaining a copy of work product

• Using general ledger software if:

– The member and client keep separate instances of the software

– The client enters into an agreement with a third party to maintain its software in a cloud-
based solution and grants the member access

15

AICPA Code of Professional Conduct

Hosting Services:

Will not impair independence (2 of 2):

• Retaining data collected related to a work product

• Electronically exchanging data, records, or work product with a nonattest client or on behalf 
of a client

• Licensing software that the client uses to input its data and receive output that the client is 
responsible for maintaining

• Having possession of a depreciation schedule, provided that the schedule and calculations 
are given to the client so their books and records are complete

• Retaining client’s original data or records to facilitate nonattest services provided that the 
records are returned to the client at the end of the engagement, at least annually
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AICPA Code of Professional Conduct

Information Systems, Design, Implementation, or Integration (Effective 1/1/2021):

• Commercial off-the-shelf (COTS) software

• Design, development, or implementation services not related to FIS

• Design or development of an FIS

• Implementation, installation, configuration, and customization of COTS

• Services that interface a COTS FIS software

• Data translation services related to COTS FIS software

• System and network maintenance, support, and monitoring

17

AICPA Code of Professional Conduct

Tax Services:

• Includes:

– Preparation of tax returns

– Transmittal of related tax payments

– Signing and filing a tax return

– Having power of attorney

– Authorized representation
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AICPA Code of Professional Conduct

Tax Services:

• Independence would be impaired if the member Signs and file a tax return on behalf of the 
client without performing the following procedures:

– Taxing authority has prescribed procedures, or

– Client signed statement which represents individual:

• Is authorized to sign,

• Has reviewed the return, and

• Authorizes the member to sign and file the return on client’s behalf

19

AICPA Code of Professional Conduct

Client Records Requests:

• Relates to the requirement that CPAs honor request from current or former clients for records 
that are in the CPAs possession.

• Most common ethics violation among CPAs

• Rules were recently clarified but this does not result in a change of practice

• States generally have more restrictive rules than the AICPA.  Differences usually involve:

– Most states require that a clients request for records be honored even If the fee is not 
paid.

– Rules vary by state regarding second or repeated requests for the same information
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AICPA Code of Professional Conduct

Client Records Requests:

Four Types of Records:

When a current or former client asks for records that are in the possession of the accountant, 
the member should determine the type of record being requested:

• Client provided records

• Member prepared records

• Member’s work products

• Member’s working papers
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AICPA Code of Professional Conduct

Client Records Requests:

Client provided records:

• Defined as accounting or other records including hardcopy and electronic reproductions of 
such records, belonging to the client that was provided to the member by, or on behalf of, the 
client.

• Examples: Original or copies of bank statements

• Provided to client not later than 45 days after request
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AICPA Code of Professional Conduct

Client Records Requests:

Member prepared records:

• Defined as accounting or other records that the member was not specifically engaged to 
prepare and that are not in the client’s books and records or are otherwise not available to 
the client, which renders the client’s financial records incomplete.

• Examples: adjusting, closing, combining, or consolidating journal entries and supporting 
schedules and documents that the member proposed or prepared as part of the engagement

• Provided to client upon request not later than 45 days after request

Note: 1.400.200.07 related to returning member prepared records and work product 
states “A member should make available member-prepared records relating to a 
completed and issued work product”

23

AICPA Code of Professional Conduct

Client Records Requests:

Member’s work products:

• Deliverable set forth in the terms of the engagement

• Example: tax returns

• Provided to the client upon request
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AICPA Code of Professional Conduct

Client Records Requests:

Member’s working papers:

• Defined as all other items prepared solely for purposes of the engagement and include items 
prepared by the member or client at the request of the member reflecting testing or other 
work done by the member.

• Items prepared solely for purposes of the engagement

• Examples: Audit programs, analytical review schedules, sampling results and analysis

• Need not be provided to the client

25

AICPA Code of Professional Conduct

Client Records Requests:

Other rules related to record requests (1 of 2):

• Must be provided in any usable format

• There is no obligation to convert the records into electronic format

• The member must provide records in the format requested if they are available in that format

• There is no requirement to provide formulas unless:

– The formulas support the client’s underlying accounting or other records

– The member was engaged to provide such formulas
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AICPA Code of Professional Conduct

Client Records Requests:

Other rules related to record requests (2 of 2):

• May charge the client a reasonable fee

• Should provide the records in a format usable by client

• May make and retain copies

• Should comply as soon as practicable but no later than 45 days

• Comply with state statutes

27

AICPA Code of Professional Conduct

QuickBooks files:

A frequent request of a prior accountant is to provide a copy of the QuickBooks file

• It constitutes the client’s records that otherwise are not available to the client, which renders 
the client’s financial records incomplete.

• The records are requested in that format.

• There is no need to convert the records into a different format.

• It is a usable format.

Since the file is a member prepared record, the file should be provided to the client or former 
client upon request under the rules above.
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AICPA Code of Professional Conduct

Non-Compliance with Laws and Regulations (NOCLAR):

• This rule is still in the exposure draft stage

• History:

– 2017 – IESBA issued standards related to a client’s non-compliance with laws and 
regulations

– IESBA requires an accountant with knowledge of violation with laws and regulations to 
report such non-compliance to the appropriate authorities.

– This standard will only apply to audit services

29

Statements on Standards 
of Accounting and 
Review Services 

(SSARS)
30



SSARS 25, Materiality in a Review of Financial 
Statements and Adverse Conclusions

• SSARS 25, Materiality in a Review of Financial Statements and Adverse Conclusions, was 
issued February 2020, by the Accounting and Review Services Committee (ARSC)

• SSARS 25 aligns ARSC engagements closer to the International Standards for Review 
Engagements (ISRE 2400 – Engagements to Review Historical Financial Statements)

• SSARS concepts, such as materiality, will also align with generally accepted auditing 
standards (GAAS)

• Effective date - Financial statements with periods ending on or after December 15, 2021

– Early implementation is allowed

31

SSARS 25: AR-C 70 Preparation Engagements

Preparation of Financial Statements – AR-C Section 70

• Main change in Section 70 addresses financial statements that omit substantially all the 
disclosures required by the applicable financial reporting framework,

• Requires that the accountant disclose the omission of disclosures either in the financial 
statements or in an accompanying disclaimer

– Financial statements may be misleading if the applicable financial reporting framework 
includes the premise that the financial statements are prepared on the going concern 
basis and undisclosed uncertainties exist regarding the reporting entity’s ability to 
continue as a going concern
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SSARS 25: AR-C 80 Compilation Engagements

Compilation Engagements – AR-C Section 80 (1 of 4):

• Changes in Section 80 is additional compilation report guidance provided for regulatory or 
the contractual basis of accounting, and

• For alerting users in the accountant’s compilation report when special purpose framework 
financial statements are presented

– That these financial statements are prepared in accordance with a special purpose 
framework, and

– That the basis of accounting is a basis other that GAAP

33

SSARS 25: AR-C 80 Compilation Engagements

Compilation Engagements – AR-C Section 80 (2 of 4):

• In the case of financial statements prepared in accordance with the provisions of a contract, 
the accountant should consider whether the financial statements adequately describe any 
significant interpretations of the contract on which the financial statements are based, and

• Modify the compilation report if the financial statements do not adequately describe any 
significant interpretations of the contract on which the financial statements are based
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SSARS 25: AR-C 80 Compilation Engagements

Compilation Engagements – AR-C Section 80 (3 of 4):

The accountant should not issue an accountant’s compilation report on financial statements 
that omit substantially all disclosures required by the applicable financial reporting 
framework if, in the accountant’s professional judgment, such financial statements would be 
misleading to users of the financial statements

35

SSARS 25: AR-C 80 Compilation Engagements

Compilation Engagements – AR-C Section 80 (4 of 4):

Standard Compilation Report – No disclosure

Management has elected to omit substantially all of the disclosures [and the statement of 
cash flows] ordinarily included in financial statements prepared in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. If the omitted 
disclosures were included in the financial statements, they might influence the user’s 
conclusions about the company's financial position, results of operations, and cash flows. 
Accordingly, the financial statements are not designed for those who are not informed about 
such matters.
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SSARS 25: AR-C 90 Review Engagements

Limited Assurance:

A level of assurance that is less than the reasonable assurance obtained in an audit engagement but is 
at an acceptable level as the basis for the conclusion expressed in the accountant’s review report. 

37

SSARS 25: AR-C 90 Review Engagements

• The review definition is modified from the accountant providing “limited assurance” that the 
financial statements are free from material misstatement to now “expressing a conclusion” 
that the reporting entity’s financial statements are free from material misstatement

• The threshold is limited assurance in order to express a conclusion in the review report

• The Objectives of the Accountant When Conducting a Review Engagement are:

– Obtain limited assurance, primarily by performing inquires and analytical procedures, as 
a basis for reporting whether the accountant is aware of any material modifications that 
should be made to the financial statements for them to be in accordance with the 
applicable financial reporting framework, and

– Report on the financial statements as a whole and communicate, as required by AR-C 90
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SSARS 25 Illustrated Review Report 

Independent Accountant’s Review Report

I (We) have reviewed the accompanying financial statements of XYZ Partnership, which 
comprise the statement of assets, liabilities, and partners’ capital – tax basis as of December 
31, 20XX, and the related statements of revenue and expenses – tax basis, and partners’ 
capital – tax basis for the year then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements. A 
review includes primarily applying analytical procedures to management’s (partners’) financial 
data and making inquiries of partnership management (partners). A review is substantially less 
in scope than an audit, the objective of which is the expression of an opinion regarding the 
financial statements as a whole. Accordingly, I (we) do not express such an opinion.
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SSARS 25 Illustrated Review Report 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management (Partners) is (are) responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these 
financial statements in accordance with the basis of accounting the partnership uses for income 
tax purposes; this includes determining that the basis of accounting the partnership uses for 
income tax purposes is an acceptable basis for the preparation of financial statements in the 
circumstances. Management (Partners) is (are) also responsible for the design, implementation, 
and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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SSARS 25 Illustrated Review Report 

Accountant’s Responsibility

My (Our) responsibility is to conduct the review engagement in accordance with Statements on 
Standards for Accounting and Review Services promulgated by the Accounting and Review 
Services Committee of the AICPA. Those standards require me (us) to perform procedures to 
obtain limited assurance as a basis for reporting whether I am (we are) aware of any material 
modifications that should be made to the financial statements for them to be in accordance with the 
basis of accounting the partnership uses for income tax purposes. I (We) believe that the results of 
my (our) procedures provide a reasonable basis for my (our) conclusion.
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SSARS 25 Illustrated Review Report 

Accountant’s Conclusion

Based on my (our) review, I am (we are) not aware of any material modifications that should be 
made to the accompanying financial statements in order for them to be in accordance with the 
basis of accounting the partnership uses for income tax purposes.
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SSARS 25 Illustrated Review Report 

Basis of Accounting

I (We) draw attention to Note X of the financial statements, which describes the basis of 
accounting. The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the basis of accounting the 
partnership uses for income tax purposes, which is a basis of accounting other than accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Our conclusion is not modified with 
respect to this matter.

43

SSARS 25: AR-C 90 Review Engagements
• Related to expressing a conclusion, the accountant may reach a “modified conclusion” which is 

a qualified conclusion or an adverse conclusion

– A qualified conclusion is reached when the accountant concludes that the effects of the 
matter or matters, giving rise to this modification, are material but not pervasive to the 
financial statements

– An adverse conclusion is reached when the effects of the matter or matters, giving rise to 
this modification, are both material and pervasive to the financial statements

• As a result of “expressing a conclusion,” the review report language changes to reflect the 
conclusion reached
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SSARS 25 Illustrated Review Report 

Qualified Conclusion:

Based on my (our) review, except for the effects of the matter(s) described in the Basis for 
Qualified Conclusion paragraph, I am (we are) not aware of any material modification that should 
be made to the accompanying financial statements in order for them to be in accordance with the 
applicable financial reporting framework
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SSARS 25 Illustrated Review Report 

Adverse Conclusion:

Based on my (our) review, due to the significance of the matter(s) described in the Basis for 
Adverse Conclusion paragraph, the financial statements are not in accordance with the applicable 
financial reporting framework
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SSARS 25: AR-C 90 Review Engagements

• The accountant is required to determine materiality for the financial statements as a whole and 
apply materiality in designing the procedures and evaluating the results obtained from these 
procedures

• Further, the accountant should revise materiality for the financial statements as a whole if the 
accountant becomes aware of information during the review that would have caused the 
accountant to have determined a different materiality amount initially

47

SSARS 25: AR-C 90 Review Engagements

Materiality:

SSARS No. 25 does not provide a specific definition of materiality

The definition of materiality found in SAS No. 138 is as follows:

“Misstatements, including omissions, are considered to be material if there is a substantial 
likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a 
reasonable user based on the financial statements
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SSARS 25: AR-C 90 Review Engagements

• Consistent with the increased emphasis on materiality, the accountant, when designing and 
performing analytical procedures and inquiries, should address 1) all material items in the 
financial statements, including disclosures, and 2) areas in the financial statements where 
the accountant believes there are increased risks of material misstatement

• Additional review guidance is included in SSARS 25 in the areas of related parties, fraud and 
non-compliance with laws and regulations, and going concern

• Examples of transactions, events, or matters the accountant should inquire about are 
included in SSARS 25
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SSARS 25: AR-C 90 Review Engagements

• In a review of financial statements, the accountant expresses a conclusion regarding the 
reporting entity’s financial statements in accordance with an applicable financial reporting 
framework

• The accountant’s conclusion is based on the accountant obtaining limited assurance

• The accountant’s report includes a description of the nature of a review engagement as 
context for the readers of the report to be able to understand the conclusion

• The accountant performs primarily inquiries and analytical procedures to obtain sufficient 
appropriate review evidence as the basis for a conclusion on the financial statements as a 
whole, expressed in accordance with the requirements of AR-C Section 90

– Revises suggested inquiries

– Revises examples of significant, unusual, or complex transactions 

• The accountant obtains a management representation letter.
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Statements on Standards 
of Attestation 

Engagements (SSAE)

SSAE Statements 19 - 22
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SSAE 19, Agreed Upon Procedure Engagements

• SSAE No. 19

– Supersedes SSAE 18, AT-C Section 215, Agreed-Upon Procedures

– Effective for reports dated on or after July 15, 2021

– Can be early implemented

• Types of Attestation Engagements

– Examination

– Review

– Agreed Upon Procedures
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SSAE 19, Agreed Upon Procedure Engagements

Examination Engagement:

The practitioner obtains reasonable assurance by obtaining sufficient appropriate evidence 
about the measurement or evaluation of subject matter against criteria in order to draw 
reasonable conclusions in the practitioner’s opinion about whether the subject matter is in 
accordance with (or based on) the criteria or assertion is fairly stated in all material respects

Review Engagement:

The practitioner obtains limited assurance by obtaining sufficient appropriate review 
evidence about the measurement or evaluation of subject matter against criteria in order to 
express a conclusion about whether any material modification should be made to the subject 
matter in order for it to be in accordance with (or based on) the criteria or for the assertion to 
be fairly stated
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SSAE 19, Agreed Upon Procedure Engagements

Agreed-Upon Procedures Engagement

• Practitioner performs specific procedures on financial or non-financial subject matter or an 
assertion and reports findings without providing an opinion or a conclusion

─ Findings are the factual results of the procedures performed.  Findings are capable of 
being objectively verified and described, which means according to SSAE 19 that 
procedures applied to the subject matter are expected to result in reasonable, 
consistent findings
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SSAE 19, Agreed Upon Procedure Engagements

Parties Involved in Agree-Upon Procedures Engagements Include:

• Engaging Party – The party that engages (hires) the practitioner

• Responsible Party – The party responsible for the subject matter

• Practitioner – The party that performs the engagement

• The User – The specified party using the written practitioner’s report
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SSAE 19, Agreed Upon Procedure Engagements

Changes to Agreed-Upon Procedures Engagements:

1. Procedures are no longer required to be determined by the responsible party 

2. Permits procedures to be developed during the course of the engagement

3. Allows practitioners to develop or assist in developing the procedures

4. Removes the prior requirement that the intended users take responsibility for the 
sufficiency of the procedures

5. Require the engaging party to acknowledge the appropriateness of the procedures for the 
intended purpose of the engagement prior to the issuance of the practitioner’s report in a 
representation letter

6. Permits the practitioner to issue a general-use report

7. Report may be restricted if in the practitioner’s judgement, a restriction is appropriate

8. Requires new disclosures in the agreed-upon procedures reports that address the risk that 
the content of the reports could be misunderstood by users.
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SSAE 19, Agreed Upon Procedure Engagements

Independence:

• Requires that a practitioner be independent when performing attestation engagements 
unless the practitioner is required by law or regulation to accept the engagement and report 
on the subject matter

• ET Section 1.297.020, Agreed-Upon Procedures Engagements Performed in Accordance 
with SSAEs, is governing standard.

• The practitioner need be independent from the responsible party or parties when agreeing to 
issue reports in accordance with SSAEs
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SSAE 19, Agreed Upon Procedure Engagements

Conditions needed to accept an Agreed-Upon Procedures engagement:

• The practitioner determines that the procedures can be designed, performed, and reported in 
accordance with the provisions in SSAE 19

• The engaging party will agree or be able to agree, to the procedures and acknowledges that 
the procedures are appropriate for the intended purpose of the engagement

• The procedures applied to the subject matter are expected to result in reasonably, consistent 
findings

• When applicable, the practitioner and the engaging party agree to apply a threshold 
(materiality) for reporting exceptions established by the engaging party

• The practitioner must agree to the terms of the engaging party (normally an engagement 
letter), and 

• The practitioner should request from a written representation letter. 
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SSAE 19, Agreed Upon Procedure Engagements

An Agreed-Upon Procedures Report Must Provide the Following (1 of 2):

• Identify the engaging party

• Identify the responsible party

• Identify the subject matter that procedures have been applied

• A statement that the engaging party acknowledges that the procedures performed are 
appropriate to meet the intended purpose of the engagement

• State that the practitioner is required to be independent from the responsible party

• State that the practitioner’s report may not be suitable for any other purpose

• State that the procedures performed may not address all the items of interest to a user of the 
report and may not meet the needs of all users of the report, as such, users are responsible 
for determining whether the procedures performed are appropriate for their purposes

• A description of the procedures performed

• A description of the findings for each procedure performed
59

SSAE 19, Agreed Upon Procedure Engagements

An Agreed-Upon Procedures Report Must Provide the Following (2 of 2):

• State that the practitioner was not engaged to and did not conduct an examination or review, 
the objective of which would be the expression of an opinion or conclusion, respectively, on 
the subject matter

• State that the practitioner does not express such an opinion or conclusion
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SSAE 19, Agreed Upon Procedure Engagements

Agreed-Upon Procedures Engagement Documentation:

• The written agreement and acknowledgement from the engaging party regarding the 
appropriateness of the procedures performed for the intended purpose of the engagement 
(engagement letter)

• The nature, timing and extent of the procedures performed

• The results of the procedures performed and the evidence obtained
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SSAE 20, Amendments to the Description of the 
Concept of Materiality.

• Issued December 2019

• Aligns the definition of materiality to that of audit

• Mostly clarifies previous AT-C Sections 205 and 210

• Only clarifies 2 paragraphs of SSAE 18
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SSAE 21, Direct Examination Engagements

• Issued September 2020

• Changes made:

– Amends AT-C 105

– Revises AT-C 205, Assertion-Based Examination Engagements

– Adds AT-C 206, Direct Examination Engagements

• Effective for reports dated on or after June 15, 2022
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SSAE 21, Direct Examination Engagements

Definitions:

Assertion-based examination engagements (AT-C 205),

[Engagements] in which a party other than the practitioner measures or evaluates the underlying 
subject matter against the criteria and provides an assertion about the outcome of the measurement 
or evaluation, and the practitioner expresses an opinion in a written report about whether the 
underlying subject matter is in accordance with (or based on) the criteria, in all material respects, or 
the responsible party’s assertion is fairly stated, in all material respects. 
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SSAE 21, Direct Examination Engagements

Definitions:

Direct examination engagements (AT-C 206),

[Engagements] in which the practitioner measures or evaluates the underlying subject matter against 
the criteria and performs other procedures to obtain sufficient appropriate evidence to express an 
opinion in a written report that conveys the results of that measurement or evaluation. The 
responsible party does not provide an assertion about the results of the measurement or evaluation 
of the underlying subject matter against the criteria. 
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SSAE 21, Direct Examination Engagements

Definitions:

Review engagements (AT-C 210), 

[Engagements] in which a party other than the practitioner measures or evaluates the underlying 
subject matter against the criteria and provides an assertion about the outcome of the measurement or 
evaluation, and the practitioner expresses a conclusion in a written report about whether the 
practitioner is aware of any material modifications that should be made to the subject matter in order 
for it to be in accordance with (or based on) the criteria or the responsible party’s assertion in order 
for it to be fairly stated. 
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SSAE 22, Review Engagements

• Revises AT-C 210 for consistency with SSAE 21

– Describes the procedures a practitioner may perform in a review engagement

– Requires that the practitioner’s report include an informative summary of the work 
performed as a basis for the practitioner’s conclusion

– Requires the practitioner to express an adverse conclusion when the practitioner, 
having obtained sufficient appropriate evidence, concludes that misstatement, 
individually or in the aggregate are both material and pervasive to the subject matter

– Effective date: Reports dated on or after June 15. 2022.  Early adoption is permitted if 
adopted along with the amendments to AT-C 105 included in SSAE 21.
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SSAE 22, Review Engagements

• Examples of procedures to obtain review evidence

– Analytical procedures

– Inspection

– Observation

– Confirmation

– Recalculation

– Reperformance
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SSAE 22, Sample Reports

Restricted use Paragraph:

This report is intended solely for the information and use of [identify the specified parties, for 
example, ABC Company and XYZ Company], and is not intended to be, and should not be, 
used by anyone other than the specified parties.

Qualified Conclusion:

Based on our review, except for the matters described in the preceding paragraph, we are 
not aware of any material modifications that should be made to [identify the subject matter, 
for example, the accompanying schedule of investment returns of XYZ Company for the 
year ended December 31, 20XX], in or-der for it to be in accordance with (or based on) 
[identify the criteria, for example, the ABC criteria set forth in Note 1]. 
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SSAE 22, Sample Reports

Adverse Conclusion:

This report is intended solely for the information and use of [identify the specified parties, for 
example, ABC Company and XYZ Company], and is not intended to be, and should not be, 
used by anyone other than the specified parties.

Qualified Opinion:

Based on our review, because of the significance of the matter described in the 
preceding paragraph [identify the subject matter, for example, the schedule of 
investment returns], is not in accordance with [identify the criteria, for example, the ABC 
criteria set forth in Note 1]. [Had we been engaged to perform an examination, other 
matters might have come to our attention.] 
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Questions???
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